# **TNO Quality of Life/VU Medical Centre**



Work and Employment Polarisavenue 151 P.O. Box 718 2130 AS Hoofddorp The Netherlands

www.tno.nl/arbeid

T +31 23 554 93 93 F +31 23 554 93 94

# How health care providers can help change goal setting of LBP-patients from painoriented to function-oriented. Qualitative evaluation of an innovative multidisciplinary outpatient care program

Date

1 July 2007

Autors

Peter C. Buijs Ludeke Lambeek Vera Koppenrade Wendela E Hooftman Johannes R. Anema

No part of this publication may be reproduced and/or published by print, photoprint, microfilm or any other means without the previous written consent of TNO.

In case this report was drafted on instructions, the rights and obligations of the contracting parties are subject to either the "Standard Conditions for Research Instructions given to TNO", or the relevant agreement concluded between the contracting parties.

© 2007 TNO

# Contents

Introduction	
Objectives	5
Subjects and Methods	6
Participating patients	
Participating health care providers	
Analysis	7
Results	
Perceived effectiveness	
Compliance	
Barriers	9
Internal Barriers: Despair	9
External barriers: patient's environment	
Facilitators	
Motivation	
Communication	
Tailor-made exercises	
Applicability	
Discussion	
Summary	
Theoretical framework: Future research	
Strengths and limitations of the study	
Strengths	
Limitations	
Comparison with other studies	
Policy implications	
Conclusions	20
References	21

# Introduction

In industrialized countries workers with low back pain (LBP) mean a heavy human, societal and economic burden<sup>i</sup>. The total annual cost of LBP to the Dutch society is estimated to be  $\in$  4.6 billion, 7% health care related and 93% primarily related to long-term disability<sup>*ii*</sup>. Although, in general, the prognosis for return-to- work (RTW) is good, approximately 10% to 25% of the patients remains long-term absent from work<sup>*iii*</sup> and becomes at risk of social and financial deprivation. This group of LBP patients, furthermore, causes 75% of the sick leave and disability costs<sup>1</sup>,<sup>*iv*</sup>. These patients often have a long, medicalizing history, consisting of all kind of different treatments, mostly aiming at eliminating pain, often ending up in secondary curative care, where attention to work-related aspects, including to work resumption, is often lacking<sup>v</sup>. Also cooperation and information exchange between treating and occupational physicians is often insufficient<sup>*vi*</sup> - another obstacle for RTW<sup>*vii*</sup>, <sup>*viii*</sup>. Research shows that work related problems are associated with an increase in seeking medical care and sick leave<sup>*ix*</sup>. However, there is strong evidence that most clinical interventions are not effective for RTW<sup>*x*</sup>, <sup>*xi*</sup>.

So it seems useful to develop and test a specific program, aiming at work resumption including work(place) intervention and graded activity, with functional restore as leading principle instead of pain reduction.

To date, quantitative research has frequently been done to evaluate the effectiveness of innovative interventions for LBP patients<sup>*xii*</sup>, <sup>*xiii*</sup>, <sup>*xiv*</sup>. But, although some interventions proved to be effective, they are frequently not in use in daily practice. To successfully implement an innovative program it is important to take notice of barriers and facilitators to change practice, for example, at the level of the patient, the professional or the innovation it self<sup>vv</sup>. Seldom however the implementation and perceived effectiveness has been evaluated from the point of view of patients and health care providers (HCP).

Since this is a relatively underdeveloped area of implementation research, we have chosen an explorative study design with a qualitative evaluation among patients as well as health care providers. This qualitative study is part of the BRIDGE-study, a large randomized controlled trial designed to evaluate the (cost-) effectiveness of a Multidisciplinary Outpatient Care (MOC) program for RTW, compared with usual care<sup>xvi</sup>. MOC is a case management program provided by a multidisciplinary team and coordinated by a care manager, consisting of a workplace intervention - based on participatory ergonomics and applied by an occupational therapist - and a graded activity intervention, applied by a physical therapist using cognitive behavioral principles (See table 1). The two interventions are chosen because recent research shows that long-term work disability is not only due to the patient's personal characteristics but is also a consequence of an interaction with the patient's environment (the workplace system, compensation system, healthcare system)<sup>12</sup>. The workplace intervention is focused on the work system (worker, supervisor), the graded activity intervention is directed to the patient's illness behaviour (pain cognitions, pain coping). Moreover, the care manager, a clinical occupational physician, will coordinate the care and communication process between all providers in the health care system to ensure a common return-to-work goal.

The study population consists of patients with chronic LBP who are sick listed and visit a medical specialist in an outpatient clinic. More detailed information about the BRIDGE-study can be found elsewhere<sup>16</sup>.

Table 1: Explanation of the work adaptations and graded activity intervention

Workplace intervention Aim: Achieve consensus by all stakeholders about the adjustments for the workplace to facilitate RTW.	<u>A worksite assessment</u> observation of the workplace of the patient; obstacles for RTW are ranked by patient and patient's supervisor independently; patient, supervisor and OT brainstorm and discuss about all possible solutions for the obstacles until reaching consensus.
Graded Activity intervention Aim: Restore occupational function of the patient and supervise the patient back to work.	Clinical intervention baseline (3 times) to test the functional capacity of the patient. an individually graded exercise program, based on cognitive behavioral principle, which teaches the patient that it is safe to move while increasing the level of activity, despite the pain.

# Objective

The objective of this qualitative study is to explore the experiences of patients and health care providers with an innovative multidisciplinary outpatient care program (MOC). The experiences were explored by addressing the following main themes: perceived effectiveness, compliance, barriers, facilitators and applicability. We defined compliance to the program as the extent to which patients and their health care providers accepted functional restoration and RTW as leading principle of the program instead of pain reduction. The main research question is how patients and their health care providers perceive the effectiveness of that program for recovery and RTW.

# Subjects and Methods

As this explorative qualitative study evaluates how the MOC program was experienced by patients and health care providers, both groups of subjects were asked about their experiences with the program. Patients were interviewed using in-depth, semistructured interviews, health care providers have been interviewed in multidisciplinary focus groups.

## **Participating patients**

The source population consisted of LBP-patients (18-65 years) who visited an outpatient clinic from the participating hospitals. The patients that met the inclusion criteria were assigned at random to the experimental group that was given the MOC program, or to the control group, getting usual care. Between January 2006 and February 2007 twenty-nine participating patients were interviewed, by telephone, lasting about 20-45 minutes. A semi-structured interview schedule was used during the interview to question the patients. Topics such as sick-leave, motivation, expectation, evaluation of the program (graded activity and work adaptations) and return to work were addressed. As a saturation point was reached twenty consecutive interviews were analyzed. Nine patients were male and eleven patients were female. In average, patients were 46 years old (rage of 29 to 60 years of age) with sick leave duration between two and twelve months (mean duration of sick leave was 5,7 months).

#### Participating health care providers

The second group of subjects in this study consisted of health care providers applying the MOC program. This group consists of two clinical occupational physicians (both being care manager), three occupational therapists, eight physical therapists (working in ten practices), and the patient's medical specialist. To evaluate their experiences with the MOC program, focus groups were used. This method was chosen because it gave the health care providers the possibility to interact with each other, which could elicit specific information about the evaluation of the program such as one's attitudes, feelings, beliefs, experiences and reactions, which would be less easily accessible in a one-to-one interview<sup>xvii</sup>.

Two focus groups were held, each lasting almost two hours. The first one was held nine months, and the second sixteen months after the start of the implementation of the program. Health care providers were only asked to join a focus group when they had seen at least two participating patients. The composition of the participants was carefully selected to ensure that all disciplines were present during the focus groups (see table 2). During the focus group, the professionals were asked to bring forward and discuss their experiences with the program. Specific questions and topics were addressed such as communication, effectiveness and barriers.

	7
	'

	0	
	Focus group 1 (n)	Focus group 2 (n)
Occupational physician	1	1
Medical specialist		1
Physical therapist	2	4
Occupational therapist	2	1
Total	5	7

Table 2: Composition of Focus groups

#### Analysis

The patient interviews and both professionals focus groups were recorded and transformed in a verbatim transcript and analyzed with *Atlas.ti*: software that can be used to facilitate coding and analyzing of transcripts, such as retrieving related segments and sub-themes. Data from both sets of transcriptions were analyzed by constant comparison method<sup>xviii</sup>, <sup>xix</sup>. First, fifteen interviews with patients were analyzed to identify themes. Secondly, additional interviews were held to confirm the theoretical saturation in which there has been explicitly searched for further examples of themes<sup>xx</sup>, <sup>xxi</sup>.Finally, theoretical themes were related to themes found in the data of the focus groups. Two co-examiners, one directly and the other not directly involved in the project, were to test the inter-subjective agreement in the following way: quotations were presented separately to the co-examiners, who were to match quotations with codes and themes. More frequently reported codes are reported in this article.

# Results

In this study the main aim was to explore the evaluation of the program by the patients and the health care providers working with the MOC program. Therefore, perceived effectiveness – how participants and professionals evaluated the program to be effective for recovery and RTW - will be the first theme addressed. Perceived effectiveness will be the first theme addressed. Thereafter compliance, barriers & facilitators and applicability to the program will be further elaborated on. Emerging themes will be linked to these topics.

# Perceived effectiveness

In general, patients and health care providers evaluated the program as an effective instrument for managing low back pain and rehabilitation as it promotes functionality and capability for work. Patients also report noticeable functional improvement and a reduction in physical complaints, although the latter is not the primary principle of the program. These findings in general suggest that the program has been perceived as an effective rehabilitation instrument, but a refinement has to be made: some patients perceived the program to be ineffective and found themselves in a state of despair which will elaborated later on (see box 1).

Box 1 Perceived effectiveness by patients and Health care providers

'Such a physiotherapist only looks at the functioning of body and muscles. He is aimed at that and that is where the emphasis lies. It isn't on the pain and complains that you experience (....). But again, the goal of the program is the improvement of functioning, increasing strength et cetera, from that perspective it worked perfectly' (male patient, age 42, marketing and sales official).

'Well, I think that graded activity with the physical therapist isn't working because it is too short. Because they try to strengthen the muscles but that isn't possible in such a short time and my own physical therapist, well, he also massages, he loosens up the muscle. I receive other exercises and with the Bridge-project it is a lot more though or harder than with my usual physical therapy ( ..)'(female patient, age 40, mail carrier)

'(...) it seems as though it is reasonably effective in that it will support its goals but if the patient is satisfied they are not free of complaints but that was not its treatment goal and you have to convince your patient (...)' (Physical therapist)

# Compliance

In this study compliance - the manner in which patients (and health care providers) adopt the principle of the program in that it is aimed at function restore instead of pain reduction - is the second theme addressed. Patients' understanding of the basic goal of the MOC program is an important element for compliance. Overall, patients finish the program and understand the goal of the program: functional improvement and not pain reduction.

Almost all patients characterize themselves by a long medical history with many years of LBP. They frequently visited different medical practices and health care providers such as manual therapists, physical therapists, chiropractors or osteopaths, but often

without results because mostly those visits didn't lead to functional improvement in the long run. This explains the fact that most patients aimlessly entered the program and failed to formulate a clear expectation and motivation. This can negatively influence patient's compliance, especially when expectations do not match with treatment goals (see box 2).

Box 2 Compliance: expectations

'I didn't have much faith because, well, because my last treatment with the physiotherapist, well, she made me do all sorts of exercises and, well, because of that I developed this hernia and well in this project it did work out ok but (...)' (male patient, age 53, entrepreneur)

'To be honest, not that by doing exercises and fitness I could get rid off this pain. That I didn't expect. But I tried it because I thought everything that can help, I have to try, but I was very sceptical about it' (female patient, age, saleswoman)

'well, neutralizing this hernia, that did stay in the back of my head/mind?. I didn't really trust that it would be gone but it did matter (...) anyway functionality did climb' (male patient, age 42, sales support manager)

'I expected a new method to learn to sort of to handle your back pain and also to learn new exercises that you can do to (.....) reduce? complaints. That I expected.' (male patient, age 36, entrepreneur)

# Barriers

How patients and professionals perceive the program to be effective for recovery and RTW depends partially on the perceived barriers and facilitators that participants and health care providers experience. Barriers are aspects related to the program that patients (and health care providers) perceive as a hindrance for compliance and eventually for perceived effectiveness. Facilitators on the contrary are aspects that are helpful for patient and health care professional to implement and finish the program. Furthermore, perceived barriers tended to be related on the one hand to the patient's personal characteristics (internal barriers) and on the other hand to the patient's environment such as the workplace system and the healthcare system (external barriers).

## Internal Barriers: Despair

Findings suggest that differences in perceived effectiveness by patients can be explained by differences in perceived barriers – internal and external - and as a consequence in compliance to the program. Despair was found to be such an internal barrier, reflecting the participant's experience of their problems as being unsolvable and pain-oriented. Patients experiencing despair characterize themselves by externalizing their problems which, in turn, had considerable consequences for their compliance. This group perceived the program, in general, as ineffective and as a consequence reported more divergent barriers such as the graded activity intervention being too short, too painful and too intensive. In comparison with patients, who did not experience despair, this group tended to be more focused on pain reduction and as a consequence evaluated the MOC program to be unsuccessful in achieving their goal. In addition MOC did not offer these patients an alternative way of dealing with LBP (see box 3).

#### Box 3 Internal barriers

'it is stupid that it ended up as it did, but I experienced something like that I was fed up with it. All the time running to doctors and staying of work and also entering BRIDGE-project. I went crazy (...) I think that it will not pass. Well, maybe after a very difficult surgery. But even then i am not sure if it will work and I could still walk after that (....) It is very tiresome, very hard' (female patient, age 54, entrepreneur).

'To find out if there is any medicine that would really work. But you are not really looking in to that. I do not think that there are any. Because, my doctor already prescribed a medicine twice and that just didn't help. Than you just try things, you are searching for things for yourself. Soles for your shoes, a corset, all sorts of things. Ointments and stuff. But that doesn't help either. Than, you try vitamin pills for your back and that kind of stuff (....) I do not think that there is anything for it, I do not really know what to do (...)' (female patient, age 40, mail carrier)

'I only went twice, once to discuss everything and once for the training (...) I experienced more pain because of the therapy. When I exercise I have pain and it gets more and more sore. I stay depressed(male patient, age 41, cleaner)

#### External barriers: patient's environment

External barriers tended to be related to the patient's environment such as the workplace system and the healthcare system. The first barrier can be found in the workplace system: lack of supervisory support (see box 4).

A very important element in the MOC program is the protocolled communication process designed to overcome communication problems by keeping all HCP and other stakeholders on side. However, this communication process does not help when communication problems represent a conflict, in which parties have irreconcilable interests (see box 4).

Box 4 External barriers related to the workplace system

'at my work they are trying to improve work quality and that was part of our own occupational health desk and their ergonomic had already done a great deal of things in my line of work as for administration and accounting and my boss had a suspicion that if this workplace intervention in the MOC program also was executed things were obstructed or changed again and I tried to explain (...)'(female patient, age 56, doctor's receptionist)

'no no. Because the three ergonomic solutions that we agreed upon, none of it has been done and it never will be. I also told the occupational therapist this, as I do to you, in a few lines, although it is all very nicely intended they do not want to take you seriously and you have seen it and noticed, so you do not really have to try to do anything for me. And it is not that I ask for anything difficult (.....)' (female patient, age 36, saleswoman)

'with a more difficult communication between employee and employer if that is the case and they are just not used to talk to each other than it can really work (...) however when there are a lot of other issues and upbraid than this doesn't really work, sometimes this only makes things worse (...)'(occupational therapist)

A second barrier in the patient's environment can be found in healthcare system and addresses the waiting period before the graded activity program can start which depends on the accessibility between different health care providers. Graded activity can only start when the patient's company doctor had been consulted and approved the patient's participation. This can prolong the waiting period and emerged as a barrier for program implementation (see box 5), because patients decide to seek other treatment in the meantime.

Box 5 external barriers related to the health care system: waiting period.

'in some cases patients do not know their own company doctor; they have only visited him or her once or not at all. In the worst case scenario they do not even know if they got an occupational health service anyway (...) once you have traced an occupational physician than you have to (..) wait till a specific moment (..) but reaching the right person and contacting them is sometimes difficult. And it isn't just this one case, that's the issue ( ...)' (occupational therapist).

'or I didn't receive a return call, even though I did leave a message and what so ever, and still I did not receive a phone call and than I made the decision myself to get a referral note from the general practitioner myself (...)' (female patient, kinder garden teacher, age 47).

A final barrier, medicalization – frequent treatments, long in duration, can also be found in the health care system and is closely related to compliance. Because most patients have a long medical history they are not only unsure of what they could expect but are often also medicalized and not encouraged to be active. As the health care system for LBP is primarily directed at pain reduction, patients are often not encouraged to be active in their normal activities, including work. So this situation induces passivity, chronicity and powerlessness. Hence, patients are influenced by former experiences with the health care system and more focused on pain reduction for instance by massage and relaxation of the muscles, which in turn also influences the patient expectance. This causes the patient to become more entangled in a tug-of-war between usual health care providers and health care providers within the Bridgeproject, which consequently, negatively influenced compliance to the MOC program. (Box 6).

Box 6 Barriers related to the health care system: medicalization

#### Tug-of-war between various stakeholders

'when considering people in general, people want to get rid of their pain and it takes a lot of communication from all professionals, that this is not the goal of this program' (physiotherapist)

'you have indeed a group of patients with chronic pain with a long anamnesis that tried everything and thinks well this is my last salvation and these patients are more focussed on pain reduction than on work resumption because this was out of reach for them for a long time or they have given up on this already or whatever'(occupational therapist)

'yes. I did tell you right? That I stopped the program for a while? Because I was in so much pain that I went on with the treatment by my chiropractor. And well, he said that I should stop with the program. The program was opposite to his treatment (female patient, age 54, entrepreneur).

## Facilitators

Besides barriers also facilitators – internal and external - could be identified. The patient's own disciplinary motivation is an internal facilitator. Two other characteristics of the program also act as external facilitators: the protocolled communication process and the tailor-made exercises in the graded activity intervention. This last facilitator is specific to the program's applicability.

#### Internal facilitator: motivation

Patient's disciplinary motivation - the inner drive to reach ones own personal goal - has a positive influence on compliance as it stimulates the patient to be persistent in doing the exercises (see box 7).

Box 7 Internal facilitator: Patient's internal disciplinary motivation

'I think that my expectation of the Bridge project has been fulfilled but you have to support the idea of it. Not that you think well they helped me so far and now it's okay. No, you really have to work on it yourself, you have to keep doing those exercises and keep reminding yourself how to use your back, sort of (...)'(female patient, age 41, domestic service official , age 29)

'I thought that I could benefit from this, between brackets of course, but that someone is going to tell me what needs attention and bringing some discipline into it (...) because of course I know myself and since 1982 once you are bothered by complaints you act and when not than not, it is that simple, doing the movements and exercises, so I saw some motivation and discipline that I could benefit from' (male patient, head construction supervisor, age 50).

### External facilitator: Communication

Another facilitator related to the program characteristics is the protocolled communication process which is especially designed to overcome communication problems and to keep all persons involved. This counteracts supervisory (and subordinate) resistance about workplace adaptations (in the workplace system) which can be beneficial to overcome communication problems at work.

Furthermore, the protocolled communication process also stimulates information exchange between health care professional and patients, which can prohibit medicalization. Although compliance could be endangered by incompatible expectations the program can prevent incompatible expectations by an extensive guided process monitored by the care manager, the medical specialist, physical therapist and occupational therapist. The program therefore ensures a thorough information exchange between health care providers themselves and between them and the patient, which positively influences the patient's compliance. The amount of information exchange between patient and health care professional encompass clear explanations, advice and goal setting which could positively adjust a client's former incompatible expectation and motivation in relation to the program. Consequently, this readjustment contributes to a patient's compliance. In general, patients evaluated this as an important positive characteristic, which stimulated them to persevere and complete the treatment program. Furthermore, the program stimulates communication and harmonisation between different health care providers within and outside the program, which in turn stimulates a multidisciplinary point of view and the professional's mutual agreement about treatment goals.

As a consequence this prevents further medicalization and ensures that patients expectations are compatible with the goal of MOC program in that it is aimed at improving functioning and RTW which in turn gives them alternative ways to handle their LBP (see Box 8).

Box 8 External facilitator: communication

#### Information

'when considering the MOC program (...) by giving the right explanation about the fact that one has to stay active and that one cannot break anything I was really motivated to go on' (female patient, age 56, doctor's receptionist).

#### Protocolled communication

'it has done a lot for me; i cannot conclude any differently than that it has made something very clear to me. I could talk freely about my job. In first instance, i was hesitating about talking about it (....). But it made a lot clear to me' (female patient, kinder garden teacher, age 60).

'it is primarily interesting when information can be exchanged which only one of us has, for example information from the work adaptations which is sent to the physiotherapist and I think it is very efficient to have an overview' (occupational physician)

'additional information from the ergonomic or the occupational therapist, as with that specific patient, you receive specific information based on a different expert's appraisal which is different from your own appraisal (....) I think that the multidisciplinary aspect is it's selling point' (physiotherapist).

'when I have problems with a patient who is not entirely convinced about the diagnosis for example than I have really positive experiences with colleagues such as the occupational therapists because they are prepared to have another evaluation with the patient by which they try to set them straight (physiotherapist).'

#### External facilitator: Tailor-made exercises

Finally facilitators identified are also the tailor-made exercises which facilitate the program's applicability which is related to how easily principles within the MOC program are applicable in practice. As these facilitators are helpful to patients to integrate new motor skills and techniques of movement into daily live they are facilitators to the program's applicability and described beneath (See box 9).

Box 9 External facilitator: Tailor-made exercises

'I think that they are fine and when I asked how to do them than it was further explained to me. So, yes, and it seems as if you get a sort of automatic way of doing things, those exercises, as you do things in normal life' (female patient, age 46, nurse).

'there has been looked, because well most of my work or my conditions are primarily administrative activities and driving to work and back and sitting long on one place without the freedom to stand up (....) that was in the past of course, now it has been improved, so now lam not so bothered. Also because the ergonomic advised to improve the car chair, to improve the sitting posture by adding foam. Well that worked out fine' (male patient, age 50. Work foreman).

# Applicability

In general, patients evaluate the program applicability as difficult because it entails readjusting unconscious wrong motor skills or techniques of movement which requires a conscious process of adjusting them. Most patients report difficulty of being constantly aware of one's posture and the negative consequences that it has.

Although patients report difficulty in adapting already existing wrong motor skills or techniques of movement, the applicability of the program is supported by specific tailor made exercises for the patients. Those exercises are selected during the graded activity intervention. In addition, to prevent structural wrong postures at work, specific work adaptations are also part of the program. Overall, patients report that the specific exercises assigned to them during graded activity and the specific work adaptations selected by the occupational therapist can be easily applied by them (box 10).

Box 10 Perceived applicability

'it is sometimes difficult because you already used a wrong posture for about thirty years and than suddenly using the right posture, well, that are customs that are burned in hardware and are difficult to adjust and that you have to realise that, hé, you are sitting in the wrong way' (male patient, age 53, project manager).

'and certain postures at work in the beginning than you really are thinking about it and they told me it has to become natural do not try to force it...... (female patient, age 46, nurse)

'I just have to be careful and pay attention, but some things that just do not fit in every day live (female patient, age 36, saleswoman).

# Discussion

### Summary

In order to direct LBP-patients from secondary care back to work by graded activity and work(place) intervention, an innovative, patient-activating, stepwise program has been developed and implemented, aiming at functional restoration instead of pain reduction, and at promoting communication between health care providers involved, in order to coordinate their advices to the patients. In a qualitative, explorative study – part of an RCT - the perceived effectiveness of the program was generally evaluated positive by the health care providers and by most patients, although at the start overall patients had low expectations about treatment – which can influence compliance negatively – as they mostly were primarily focussed on pain reduction, as a result of their former health care experiences. Some patients therefore perceived the program to be ineffective, reporting divergent barriers.

### **Theoretical framework: Future research**

In explorative qualitative research open-mindedness is critical because it allows researchers to investigate a wider area, without in the beginning being preoccupied by specific theoretical constraints. Results can afterwards be fitted in a theoretical framework that can be important for future research. Therefore, now an attempt will be made to interpret findings in a theoretical framework.

In this explorative study compliance emerges as a central issue related to perceived effectiveness, next to the applicability of the MOC program. Several barriers and facilitators influence compliance, like despair, perceived difficulty of program's applicability, medicalization, lack of supervisory support, disciplinary motivation, thorough (protocolled) communication process, tailor-made exercises. These three important elements – compliance, barriers/facilitators and perceived applicability, seems to fit quite well into the theory of planned behaviour by Azjen xxii (see fig 1). In short, this model focuses on what factors determine the likelihood that a person will adopt specific health behaviour such as adoption of program's principle (compliance). Perceived effectiveness can be seen as the desired outcome. This outcome is a result of a behavioral intention. Behavioral intentions are influenced by an objective context (such as the workplace system and the health care system) and a subjective context (such as general attitudes and personality traits as despair and disciplinary motivation)xxiii, xxiv. Lack of supervisory support at work, waiting lists, communication problems and medicalization in the healthcare system can be found in the objective context which will negatively influence the patient's intensions to comply. Despair can be found in the subjective context and is related to general attitudes and personality traits which will negatively influence patients intend. Furthermore, as the actual change in behaviour is also influenced by the person's perception about behavioural control over that action (self-efficacy). Specific recommendations for program improvement are related to perceptions on behavioural control as compliance tended to be a decisive aspect for perceived effectiveness which was negatively influenced by despair and by the perceived difficulty in the program's applicability.



Figure 1: Theoretical framework based on the theory of planned behavior by Azjen & Fishbein<sup>22</sup>.

## Strengths and limitations of the study

The strengths and limitations of the study, to be presented here, are primarily based on the patients interviews, and confirmed by the focus groups of health care providers.

# Strengths

- An explorative qualitative study on how patients experience an activating, goal-oriented, stepwise program, aiming at functional restoration and RTW instead of pain reduction;
- This study includes the experiences of patients as well as health care professionals; It provides deeper insight in working mechanisms behind the program than a quantitative study can do; in combination the two methods give a more complete view on the way the program works out, especially on barriers and facilitators;
- The risk of missing important items is acceptable, because from the 15th patient interview on no relevant new items were found (saturation), while also the health care professionals in their focus groups did not produce new items, compared to the items found in the interviews;
- by focusing on the experiences of patients and the health care providers with the program more detailed information and suggestions for implementation can be formulated

#### Limitations

- It is unknown how many patients adhere to treatment recommendations over a longer period in time, after finishing the program; because joining the program was voluntarily, maybe less motivated patients (and health care providers) preferred to stay out; Therefore results can only be generalised cautiously;
- Interviews were by telephone, so non-verbal clues could not be noticed;
- focus on users and target group (workers with chronic LBP)and program characteristics. Other important stakeholders/players for program implementation managers have not been questioned.

## Comparison with other studies

Although no comparable qualitative studies were found some studies come close to aspects of ours. We will discuss some of them.

In a systematic review Verbeek c.s<sup>xxv</sup> mentioned qualitative research showing that for LBP patients it is important to have a clear diagnosis of the cause of their pain, and confirmation from the health care provider that the pain is real, next to providing further information, instructions, pain relief, physical examination, listening and understanding. This influences patient expectations, and by that their compliance. In Verbeek's review and other studies<sup>xxvi</sup> the recommendation to develop new strategies in order to better meet patients' expectations is partly in line with ours – providing good information - because the patients' expectations influences their compliance. As we saw, the expectations of 'our' patients often were quite low and often not in line with the essence of the MOC program: primarily oriented on functional restoration, not at pain reduction.

A limitation of this study lies within the fact that it only entails a short follow-up. As a consequence we do not know how many patients eventually will 'slide back' in former behaviour after finishing the program. This is especially important as compliance emerged as an important factor for the perceived effectiveness and former studies show that a lack of compliance could be seen as the missing link to ineffectiveness of exercises during and beyond treatment<sup>xxvii</sup>. So it is important to make a difference in non-compliance during treatment (short-term compliance) and beyond treatment (long-term compliance) because it requires different compliance-enhancing strategies<sup>xxviii</sup>.

Finally, the LBP patients, who perceived the program effectiveness as negative, often have a long history of LBP, having visited many different health care providers, who often provide treatment (primarily) directed at pain reduction. When these patients are offered an alternative option, oriented at function restore in stead of pain reduction, then it is not surprising that they may have low expectations and that their compliance suffer from several kinds of barriers. From those who persist in their negative view, it is interesting to question how their goal setting can be changed. In the first place: do they have specific features (sickness absence duration, amount/kind of treatments, (degree of) medicalization, personal characteristics etc) to identify them? Secondly,–most important - is it possible to offer them an alternative treatment program to help them to adopt the program's principle (more tailor-made, with psychological help, etc).

# **Policy implications**

The positive evaluation of the MOC program by patients and health care providers is important, given the latitude of the chronic LBP-problem and the considerable amount of patients ending up medicalised in outpatient care or other forms of secondary health care, where in general insufficient attention is paid to work-relatedness and work resumption. Our findings correspond to the fact that the medical system often encourages passivity, chronicity and powerlessness, and usual care in LBP is still focussed too much on pain reduction and less on encouraging patients to be active and RTW<sup>10</sup>. Moreover, already for decades it is well known, that the longer absent from work, the higher the chance to stay out of work, more or less independent of the disease or illness at stake<sup>xxix</sup>. The MOC program can offer a way out of this 'dead-end street situation' of all kind of treatment of symptoms, not reaching the point of work resumption.

If, next to this qualitative study, the results of the still proceeding quantitative study are positive too, than it seems to be worth while to implement this MOC-program on a larger scale, after having incorporated the many improvement suggestions given during this study, such as:

- still more attention to fixation on pain reduction by some patients e.g. by
- providing patients with better info or psychological treatment to change their goal setting;
- more attention to long term compliance;
- more attention to resistance 'at the work place' from supervisors, management, colleagues, and the worker him/herself;
- considering if more attention to early detection and a specific (sub)program is possible for 'non-compliers' to the program's principle;
- more bilateral contact between health care providers to ensure common goals in treatment and avoidance of medicalisation.

Furthermore, this study shows that perceived effectiveness by patients and health care providers is related to program compliance, which in turn is influenced by patient's attitude/ expectations towards the program and by self efficacy(see Fig 1). Communication and perceived applicability are crucial facilitators/barriers for program compliance.

# Health insurance companies

Implementing MOC on a broader scale can be in the interest not only of the patients/workers involved and of course of their employers, but also of health insurance companies. Under new Dutch more liberal legislation, these companies are supposed to take initiatives beyond their traditional curative borders, in the direction of occupational health care. Up till now however, the presumed market forces do not seem to work that way yet <sup>xxx</sup>.

Next to implementing MOC on a broader scale, maybe also less conventional, more preventive methods have to be used to tackle the LBP-problem. Interesting are e.g. positive experiences from Australia: because of the diverse and sometimes contradictory information in the health care system about (treatment of) LBP - tending to negatively influence the patient's compliance – the State of Victoria started a media campaign to alter population and physicians' beliefs about back pain which already showed significant results, compared with another state<sup>xxxi</sup>.

Finally, we recommend to combine quantitative research more with (complementary) qualitative research, so that in the end not only figures, statistics etc are available, but also data giving more insight in and background to the effect of an intervention than would be possible only in a quantitative manner. Combined these quantitative and qualitative data provide a more solid base for a successful strategy to implement real improvements into the health care in general, and occupational health care in particular.

# Conclusions

This qualitative study shows, that the perceived effectiveness of the innovative MOC program was generally evaluated positive by the health care providers and by most patients, although at the start overall patients were quite passive and had low expectations about treatment, as they mostly were primarily focussed on pain reduction, as a result of their former health care experiences. Despite this negative start position and the fact that MOC focuses on function restore instead of pain reduction the compliance to the program's principle and goal was found to be quite good. Barriers for compliance were related to the patient's characteristics (internal barriers) and environment such as the workplace and the healthcare system (external barriers). Some patients evaluated the program to be ineffective and reported barriers which tended to be related to personal characteristics such as despair (patients experiencing their problems as being unsolvable and pain-oriented). However, compliance can also be influenced by barriers related to the patient's environment such as supervisory and subordinate resistance (lack of supervisory support), and related to the health care system, where barriers can be seen like unnessecary long waiting time, communication problems, waiting lists and medicalization. Besides barriers different facilitators can also be identified. Disciplinary motivation and specific characteristics of the program such as the thorough protocolled communication process, relevant information and specific tailor-made exercises make it easier for patients to comply and positively influence perceived effectiveness

Final conclusions can't be drawn yet: a RCT of the (cost-)effectiveness of the program will be finished later. Yet this program seems to be promising for application on a broader scale and for further hypothesis-testing regarding new interventions/ implementations, and the way they work out at patients, health care providers and the work(place), trying to give again perspective to LBP patients in despair of ever resume work.

#### **Competing interests**

The author(s) declare to have no competing interests.

# Authors' contributions

All authors have been involved in this qualitative, read and corrected draft versions of the manuscript and approved the final manuscript.

# Acknowlegments

The authors thank all persons involved in this study, especially the patients and health care providers.

This study is granted by: TNO Work & Employment (a.o. funds from the Ministry of Health), VU University Medical Center, Dutch Health Insurance Executive Council (CVZ), Stichting Instituut GAK (SIG) and The Netherlands Organisation for Health Research and Development (ZONMw).

# References

<sup>ii</sup> Tulder, van M.W., Koes BW, Bouter LM. A cost-of-illness study of back pain in The Netherlands. Pain 1995; 62(2):233-240.

<sup>iii</sup> Steenstra IA, Koopman FS, Knol DL, Kat E, Bongers PM, de Vet HC et al. Prognostic factors for duration of sick leave due to low-back pain in dutch health care. J Occup Rehabil 2005; 15(4):591-605.

<sup>iv</sup> Cats-Baril WL, Frymoyer JW. The economics of spinal disorders. In: Frymoyer JW ed The adult spine: Principles of Practice 1991; New York: Raven Press; 1991.

<sup>v</sup> Weel C van, Orbon K, Gulden Jvd, Buijs PC, Folgering J, Thoonen B, Schermer T. Occupational health and general practice: from opportunities lost to opportunities capitalised. Med Lav 2006; 97, 2: 288-294.

<sup>vi</sup> Buijs P, van Amstel R, van Dijk FJ Dutch occupational physicians and general practitioners wish to improve cooperation. Occup Environ Med 1999;56:709-713.

<sup>vii</sup> Anema JR, Van Der Giezen AM, Buijs PC, Van Mechelen W. Ineffective disability management by doctors is an obstacle for return-to-work: a cohort study on low back pain patients sicklisted for 3-4 months. Occup Environ Med. 2002 Nov;59(11):729-33.

<sup>viii</sup> Buck, de P.D.M., van Amstel, R.J., Buijs, P.C., Maasen, J.H.W., Dijk, van F.J.H., Hazes J.M.W. et al. Communication between Dutch rheumatologists and occupational physicians in the occupational rehabilitation of patients with rheumatic diseases. Annals of the Rheumatic Diseases 2002; 61(1):62-65.

<sup>ix</sup> Vroome, de E.M.M., Putten, van D.J. Werkgebonden risicofactoren van ziekteverzuim en huisarts- en specialistenbezoek. Tsg jaargang 81 2003;(3):127-134.

<sup>x</sup> Pengel HM, Maher CG, Refshauge KM. Systematic review of conservative interventions for subacute low back pain. Clin Rehabil 2002; 16(8):811-820.

<sup>xi</sup> Waddell G, Burton AK. Occupational health guidelines for the management of low back pain at work: evidence review. Occup Med (Lond) 2001; 51(2):124-135.

<sup>xii</sup> Loisel P, Durand MJ, Berthelette D, Vezina N, Baril R, Gagnon D et al. Disability Prevention. New paradigm for the management of occupational back pain. Dis Manage Health Outcomes 2001; 9(7):351-360.

<sup>xiii</sup> Anema JR, Steenstra IA, Bongers PM, de Vet HC, Knol DL, Loisel P, van Mechelen W. Multidisciplinary rehabilitation for subacute low back pain: graded activity or workplace intervention or both?: a randomized controlled trial. Spine. 2007; 1;32(3):291-8; discussion 299-300.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>i</sup> Henderson M, Glozier N, Holland EK. Long term sickness absence. BMJ 2005;330(7495):802-803.

<sup>xiv</sup> Buchbinder, R. & Jolley, D. Effects of a Media Campaign on Back Beliefs is Sustained 3 Years After Its Cessation. Spine 2005; 30 (11): 1323-1330.

<sup>xv</sup> Grol, R.Successes and Failures in the implementation of evidence-based guidelines for Clinical Practice. Medical care 2001; Aug; 9(8):II-46-II54.

<sup>xvi</sup> Lambeek, L.C., Anema, H.J.R., Royen, van B.J., Buijs, P.C., Wuisman, P.I., Tulder, van M.W. & Mechelen, van W. Multidisciplinary outpatient care program for workers with chronic low back pain: design of a randomized controlled trial and cost-effectiveness study; Submitted.

<sup>xvii</sup> David, L.M. Focus Groups as qualitative research. Second edition. Sage publications, Inc.: Thousands Oaks; London; New Dehli, 1997.

<sup>xviii</sup> Boeije, H. Analyseren in kwalitatief onderzoek. Hoofddorp: Boomonderwijs, 2005.

<sup>xix</sup> Pope, C., Ziebland, S., & Mays, N. Qualitative research in health care in health care. Analysing qualitative data. British Journal of Management 2000 Jan; 320(7227): 114-116.

<sup>xx</sup> Baarda, D.B., Goede, de M.P.M.en Teunissen, J. Basisboek Kwalitatief onderzoek; handleiding voor het opzetten en uitvoeren van kwalitatief onderzoek. Groningen: Wolters-Noordhoff, 2005

<sup>xxi</sup> Onwuegbuzie, A. & Leech, N. A Call for Qualitative Power Analyses. Quality & Quantity 2007; 41:105-121.

<sup>xxii</sup> Ajzen, I. The theory of planned behavior. Organizational Behavior and Human Decision Processess 1991; 50: 179-211.

<sup>xxiii</sup> Heideman, J.M.C., Engels, J.A., Gulden, van der J.W.J. Knelpunten in de arbocuratieve samenwerking tussen bedrijfsarts en huisarts; Wat staat noodzakelijk gedragsverandering in de weg? TSG 2002;80(3):185-191.

<sup>xxiv</sup> Vries, de H. Dijkstra, M., Kuhlman, P. Self-efficacy: the third factor besides attitude and subjective norm as a predictor of behavioral intentions. Healt education research 1988;(3)3:273-282.

<sup>xxv</sup> Verbeek, J., Sengers, M., Riemens, L., & Haafkens, J. Patient Expectations of Treatment for Back Pain: A Systematic Review of Qualitative and Quantitative Studies. Spine 2004; 29(20):2309-2318.

<sup>xxvi</sup> Laerum, E., Indahl, A., & Skouen, J. S. What is "the good back-consultation"? A combined qualitative and quantitative study of chronic low back pain patients' interaction with and perceptions of consultation with specialists. Journal of Rehabilitation medicine 2006; 38, 255-262.

<sup>xxvii</sup>Göhner, W. & Schlicht, W. Preventing chronic back pain: Evaluation of a theorybased cognitive-behavioral training programme for patients with subacute back pain. Patient Education and Counseling 2006;64:87-95. <sup>xxviii</sup> Sluijs, E. M., Kok, G. J., & Zee, v. d. J. Correlates of Exercise Compliance in Physical Therapy. Physical Therapy 1993;73:771-782.

<sup>xxix</sup> Buijs PC. A lack of coordination between OPs and treating physicians was known for years, but not recognized. Tijdschrift voor Bedrijfs- en Verzekeringsgeneeskunde2001 9, 133-38.

<sup>xxx</sup> Hoogtanders Y, Langman M, Veenhof M. Naar een sluitende keten van preventie, verzuim en re-integratie. Policy Productions i.s.m. LangmanEconomen. Evaluation report, Den Haag, 23-11-2006.

<sup>xxxi</sup> Buchbinder, R. & Jolley, D. Improvements in general Practitioner Beliefs and Stated Management of Back Pain Persist 4.5 Years After the Cessation of a Public Health Media Campaign. Spine 2007; 32 (5):E156-E162.